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Praise for Vicksburg


“In 1863 all across the Northern states life went on as normal, but not so for the people of the South. The agony of war was already well known in Dixie. The sufferings and struggles of the citizens and defenders of Vicksburg are emblematic of the agony endured by the Southern people. Sandy Mitcham’s scholarly research brings the sounds of gunboats and siege artillery to life and reminds us that war is more than battles and leaders. Vicksburg demonstrates why invaded nations never forget.”


—JAMES RONALD KENNEDY, bestselling author of The South Was Right


“Dr. Mitcham has written a very comprehensive work on Vicksburg during the War Between the States, the numerous campaigns against it by U.S. land and river forces, the Confederate defense against these campaigns, and interesting portraits of various commanders on both sides. He also includes throughout interesting vignettes of local interest during those times. In the end, Dr. Mitcham presents compelling evidence that exonerates Confederate General Pemberton—a Northerner by birth and in command at Vicksburg at the time of its fall—from much of the blame that was attributed to him by the people of the South. Not to be missed by any who wish to have a comprehensive account of the campaign from a different perspective.”


—H. V. TRAYWICK JR., member of the Society of Independent Southern Historians and author of Empire of the Owls: Reflections on the North’s War against Southern Secession and Virginia Iliad: The Death and Destruction of ‘The Mother of States and of Statesmen’


“As a descendant of several Confederate defenders of Vicksburg, I have often been left less than pleased with the treatment given my Southern ancestors’ struggle in defense of Vicksburg. But at last, Dr. Mitcham (better described as “General” Mitcham) has gallantly attacked and taken on the politically correct sanctuary of historical prejudice and ignorance. In a scholarly yet very ‘readable’ manner, Mitcham debunks a plethora of falsehoods, myths, and downright fabrications about both the battle and defenders of the Citadel of the Confederacy, i.e., Vicksburg—something that is long overdue.”


—WALTER D. KENNEDY, co-author of Punished with Poverty: The Suffering South


“Vicksburg is an excellent book. It is a memorable and moving portrait of a besieged city. The ‘Conclusions’ chapter is special as the author explains the real reasons that Vicksburg fell.”


—DUKE LIGON, Member of the Board of Trustees, Civil War Trust, Washington, DC


“Dr. Mitcham did a great job! This is some of the best history I have ever read. The flow of information—to be that in-depth and that precise—was tremendous. Mitcham uses many original sources and brings events and people to life. He made it seem like it was not that long ago. I was very impressed. I highly recommend this book.”


—PHIL ROBERTSON, author and Duck Dynasty patriarch


“Told from a Confederate’s point of view, Vicksburg offers a unique glimpse inside the minds of the men charged with defending one of the most strategic positions of the Civil War. A must read for all Civil War enthusiasts.”


—BRIDGET H. SMITH, author of Where Elephants Fought: The Murder of Confederate General Earl Van Dorn
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This book is dedicated to my ancestors, Corporal Josephus McGough, Company H, 31st Louisiana Infantry, and Private Mark Meeks, 37th Arkansas Infantry, who gave his life for his country.





INTRODUCTION



The two main purposes of this book are to describe the Vicksburg campaigns of the War of Southern Secession, primarily from the Confederate point of view, and to analyze the generalship of the Rebel commander, Lieutenant General John C. Pemberton.


It is my opinion that the Northern side of these campaigns (and especially the generalship of Ulysses S. Grant) has been well covered by several prominent historians, including Edwin C. Bearss, Major General J. F. C. Fuller, Terrence J. Winschel, and others. The Southern side has been neglected, relatively speaking. This book will do just the opposite. Here, the Rebel side will be told. The Union side will be covered only insofar as it reflects on the Confederate side, or on Southern civilians.


Certain readers will be distressed because this book is not “politically correct.” I pray to God that I never write a book that is! Political correctness and historical objectivity cannot coexist in the same work. I believe political correctness and intellectual dishonesty are all too often synonymous. The politically correct party line is that the war was all about slavery. The selfless, valiant, and morally pristine Northern army, which was full of holy and righteous indignation, launched a holy crusade against the evil Southern slaveholders, and defeated them because of their superior military skills, selfless valor, and overwhelmingly great mental prowess. That would be funny if so many people didn’t believe it. They have no idea that only 6 to 7 percent of the Confederate Army was made up of slaveholders. Even the undereducated who do not read but do watch television and have seen the movie Gettysburg should ask themselves, “Why would anybody go through that hell so somebody else could keep their slaves?” The inescapable conclusion is they would not. So why did the Southerner fight?


There were several major causes of the war, and the evil institution of slavery was one of them. But it certainly wasn’t the only one. Money was a big one—and perhaps the most significant. There was no income tax in those days. The major source of revenue was the tariff. The Southern plantation owner and yeoman farmer produced more than 75 percent of the world’s cotton. The South, which contained 30 percent of the nation’s population, was paying more than 85 percent of its taxes. At the same time, around three-quarters of that money was being spent on internal improvements in the North. This is why, when asked why he didn’t just let the South go, Lincoln cried, “Let the South go? Let the South go? From where then would we get our revenues?”


The self-ordained “politically correct” never mention the fact that the American slaves were originally enslaved by black Africans, not by white men on horseback who scooped up African warriors with giant butterfly or fish nets, as depicted in a certain movie. (If I wanted to commit suicide, trying to capture African warriors with a net would be a pretty good way to go about it.) They then sold them to Northern (or Arab [Muslim]) flesh peddlers. The slave fleets headquartered in Boston, Massachusetts, and Providence, Rhode Island, not in Charleston, New Orleans, and Savannah. Yankee flesh peddlers then transported them across the ocean and sold them to Southerners and various other Americans—or at least what was left of them. Of the twenty-four to twenty-five million slaves transported to the Western Hemisphere, only twenty million arrived alive. Four to five million died in what was called the “Middle Passage.” (So much for Northern compassion.) Six percent of the survivors ended up in the colonies or the United States. It may surprise some readers to learn that the slave fleets continued to operate throughout the Civil War. They did not stop until 1885, when Brazil became the last country to outlaw the slave trade. But history is the most vulnerable field to those who want to dictate the present and control the future by changing the past. Today, the well-programmed “politically correct” (self-ordained) swell up in righteous indignation if you even bring up these inconvenient facts.


In addressing political correctness, famous Civil War historian Ludwell H. Johnson noted: “Nothing is too bizarre to be believed and taught as true when truth is just a matter of cultural or political preference.” He went on to discuss a certain Northern curriculum which alleges that the Iroquois influenced Rousseau, Voltaire, Locke, Montesquieu, Jefferson, the Albany Confederation, the Articles of Confederation, and the U.S. Constitution. As he said, nothing is too bizarre for the politically correct. Now, even the Carpetbaggers are portrayed as wonderful people—they were, in fact, early civil rights workers. They certainly never stole anything and, even if they did, that was okay, because everybody else was doing it. So we must give them a pass—at least according to the “politically correct.”


But everyone else was not doing it.


Although a study of the causes of the war is beyond the scope of this book, I feel compelled to note that most of the pain and suffering in world history and most of the wars are not a result of a conflict between good and evil, but a conflict between different ideas of good. For anyone interested in the reasons the Confederates fought, The South Was Right by Donald and Ronald Kennedy, North Against South by Ludwell H. Johnson, and H. W. Crocker, III’s The Politically Incorrect Guide to the Civil War would be a good start. The Abbeville Institute website offers a superb free source of information about this and other issues.


I would like to thank George Bolm and Gordon Cotton of the McCardle Library in the Old Warren County Courthouse Museum in Vicksburg for providing a treasure trove of diaries and letters for this book. I would also like to thank Michael Fraering of the National Park Service’s Port Hudson facility for his kind help, as well as the staff of the Vicksburg National Military Park for its assistance. Foremost of all, I would like to thank my wife Donna for all of her help and advice.





CHAPTER I


VICKSBURG: THE FIRST SIEGE


Vicksburg, in 1860, was one of the principal cities of the South. With six thousand people (including more than eleven hundred blacks), it was the second largest city in Mississippi. It was a major river port, with people entering its environs from every part of the world, and it had a progressive, cosmopolitan atmosphere. It featured six different newspapers (three of them dailies), each of a different political persuasion. There were plank sidewalks, four volunteer fire companies, five churches, two hospitals, several private schools, a large public school, many luxurious homes, several opulent hotels, and even an opera house. The Warren County Courthouse, which is now an excellent museum, was considered an awe-inspiring building when completed in 1860. It featured Greek Revival columns and was topped by a four-faced German clock and a cupola. There were many prosperous businesses in town, including several banks and tailor shops. But the city was also cursed by its geography, militarily speaking. It was located on 200-foot high bluffs, near where the Mississippi River doubles back on itself in a 180-degree horseshoe bend and was a half a mile across. Even a military illiterate could tell that this was a formidable position which would need to be taken to control the river.
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Vicksburg, 1860. The courthouse is the most prominent building.





Such a person was Abraham Lincoln. His only military service was three months in the militia during the Black Hawk War, where all he accomplished was getting demoted from captain to private. He never saw action.1 He did, however, have a healthy amount of common sense and, when the War Between the States began, even he declared that Vicksburg was the key. “The war can never be brought to a close until that key is in our pocket,” he said. He went on to say that, as a young man, he had traveled down the Mississippi on flatboats, and he knew what he was talking about. And, this time, he was right.


Men who actually knew what they were doing concurred. General William T. Sherman, for example, said Vicksburg was “the strongest place I ever saw . . .No place on earth is favored by nature with natural defenses as Vicksburg.”


As the war approached, Vicksburg was the most pro-Union city in Mississippi and most of its citizens were moderates. They opposed secession and, in the election of 1860, cast their ballots for John Bell, a former Whig senator from Tennessee and the head of the Constitutional Union Party, which also opposed secession. This moderation did not change even after Lincoln was elected president in November. In December, Vicksburg voted 561 to 175 not to leave the Union. In January 1861, Vicksburg sent two anti-secessionist delegates to the secession convention, but the anti-secessionists were outvoted 84 to 15. Mississippi left the United States on January 9.
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Map 1.1: Area of Operations





With secession an accomplished fact, many of its former opponents embraced the idea. Most Vicksburgians believed in states’ rights and placed loyalty to the state above loyalty to the United States. (This was true throughout the South. Robert E. Lee, for example, opposed disbanding the Union, but went with Virginia when it seceded. Jefferson Davis also opposed secession but “went out” with Mississippi.) Vicksburg newspaper editor Marmaduke Shannon, formerly a staunch Unionist, wrote: “It is enough for us to know that Mississippi, our state, our government [,] has taken its position. We, too take our position by its side.” Even so, the population of the city remained divided until April 15, 1861, when Lincoln called for 75,000 volunteers to suppress the “rebellion.” This act convinced the holdouts that the “fire-eater” secessionists had been right all along, and the Republican Party was going to be as dictatorial and despotic as the fire-eaters had predicted.
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The corner of Washington and Clay Streets, Vicksburg. This is still one of the most prominent intersections in the city.





The other side was also ready to go to war. Contrary to the simplistic and misleading view too often promulgated in schools, the Civil War was not just about slavery. There were other causes, including serious economic factors. One of these involved Midwesterners. They hated and deplored the fact that the Mississippi River was closed. For decades, they had used the river to transport their crops to market. Now they had to depend on the railroads, which were owned by greedy Northern robber barons, who charged them exorbitant fees and severely reduced the farmers’ profit margins, if they didn’t wipe them out altogether. The closing of the river placed many Midwestern farms in danger of bankruptcy and foreclosure. All of them were hurt economically. They had just emerged from the financial Panic of 1857 and, unless the Northern forces could reopen the river to commerce, Midwestern prosperity was at an end, and they faced a serious economic crisis and quite likely a regional depression. (By early 1863, this regional depression had arrived.) And so, for this reason, in addition to others including slavery, tariffs, and constitutional issues, Midwesterners joined General Grant’s army in droves.
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The first threat to Vicksburg came from the south. On April 28, 1862, Flag Officer David Farragut’s fleet captured New Orleans. It then steamed up the river, easily occupied Baton Rouge and Natchez, and put in at Davis Bend, where its men captured Brierfield, Jefferson Davis’ home, and Hurricane, the palatial mansion of his brother, Joseph Davis. Hurricane was so impressive that they assumed it must be the home of the president of the Confederacy, so they burned it. Brierfield they only looted. Continuing northward, they reached Vicksburg on May 18.


Farragut’s force included five big warships and several transports, which carried fourteen hundred infantrymen under Brigadier General Thomas Williams. Commodore S. Phillips Lee, the commander of Farragut’s Advance Naval Division, sent a note to “The Authorities at Vicksburg,” demanding its surrender. Lieutenant Colonel James L. Autry, the military governor, wrote back: “Mississippians don’t know, and refuse to learn, how to surrender to an enemy. If Commodore Farragut or Brigadier General Butler can teach them, let them come and try.” Brigadier General Martin Luther Smith, the commandant of the Vicksburg defenses,2 and Mayor Lazarus Lindsay sent similar messages. Lee responded that the bombardment would begin in twenty-four hours.


On May 18, Smith’s infantry forces consisted of three Louisiana regiments, a Mississippi battalion, and a Louisiana battalion.3 They were fresh troops but indifferently armed. All told, he had four thousand men.


The bombardment started during the afternoon of Sunday, May 25, when 166-pound shells exploded in the city. Citizens fled into the countryside while the men of the Confederate Army rushed into Vicksburg. Unfortunately for the Yankees, their ships’ guns could not be elevated enough to destroy the Southern batteries on the bluff or even do maximum damage to the town. General Williams, meanwhile, declared that he could not storm the city unless the Rebel guns were silenced.


About four days later, Winchester Hall and his 3rd Louisiana Infantry Regiment marched into Vicksburg.4 Colonel Hall recalled that it “looked as if the simoom of war already had swept over it  . . . the city deserted by all who could leave, business houses that were not closed were barren of goods, beautiful homes, set in emerald lawns, embowered in magnolia, rose, myrtle and wild peach, and smiling with beautiful flowers, awaiting the coming of the spoiler.”


But the spoiler didn’t come. In the summer of 1862, Vicksburg first became a fortress, but there were growing pains. Many of the soldiers arrived without shelter. They knocked on doors and asked the citizens if they could sleep on their verandas, or even on their lawns. They were almost always accommodated. The ladies of Vicksburg in particular became known far and wide for their toughness, their courage, their indifference to enemy fire, and their selfless devotion to their Cause and their defenders. Normal life was now only a memory. Women and children were already growing vegetable gardens in their backyards, making coffee out of okra and acorns, and breaking out their grandmothers’ old spinning wheels to make homespun clothing.


The garrison was soon joined by the 4th and 5th Louisiana under Colonel Henry Watkins Allen, who was only partially recovered from a wound suffered at Shiloh. General Smith also had three artillery batteries (eighteen guns) and the ingredients for three more heavy batteries. The big guns were sent to Vicksburg by Major General Mansfield Lovell, the commander at New Orleans, when he realized that city was doomed. Unfortunately, these heavy guns would have to be mounted, and now that would have to be done under enemy fire.


During the construction of one battery, Colonel Allen’s men came under serious gunboat fire. They stopped working and ducked. Seeing this, Allen drew his revolver and shouted, “Soldiers, you came here to fight: you are ordered to build this Battery, and d—n me, if I don’t shoot down the first of you that dodges from this work; by G-d, no soldier of mine shall dodge from his duty!” The proclamation had an “electric effect” on the men, who realized that the colonel was serious, and they soon completed the battery.


May 27 brought the heaviest shelling yet. Thirty-five enemy warships bombarded Vicksburg, “delivering broadside after broadside, firing shot, shell and grape, according to their distance from the city.” The Rebel batteries replied in full force. “The roar of cannon was continuous and deafening,” Sarah Dorsey recorded, “loud concussions shook the city to its foundations—shot and shell went hissing and tearing through trees, walls, houses, scattering fragments far and near  . . . Men, women and children rushed into the streets and, amid the crash of falling houses, commenced a hasty flight into the country for safety.” But, for all of the noise and destruction, not a single Confederate gun was destroyed or disabled.


One lady, the wife of a staff officer, came to Vicksburg during the first siege, to be near her husband. “How is it possible for you to live here?” she asked another lady.


“After one is accustomed to the change, we do not mind it,” her friend replied, “but becoming accustomed, that is the trial.”


The woman in question did become accustomed to it, more or less. “Still, resting in Vicksburg seemed like resting near a volcano,” she concluded.


Meanwhile, more Rebel forces poured into the city and surrounding area. They included John C. Breckinridge’s division with Brigadier General William Preston’s, Brigadier General Benjamin H. Helm’s, and Colonel Walter S. Statham’s brigades,5 as well as the 17th, 26th, and 27th Louisiana Infantry Regiments, the 3rd Mississippi, and Colonel Theo Withers’ 1st Mississippi Light Artillery Regiment. They totaled more than five thousand men.


Just across the river lay the De Soto peninsula, extending opposite the city to the west. General Williams decided to dig a canal across the base of the peninsula, to divert the river and bypass the city. When completed, the De Soto peninsula would be an island and Vicksburg would be bypassed. But he needed laborers. Kate Stone, a resident of Madison Parish, Louisiana, recorded in her diary how the Federals impressed all of the local Negro men to work on the canal. Some went willingly and some went at gunpoint, but he eventually mustered thirty-two hundred men and more joined or were forced to join later.


Williams, Farragut, and their engineers calculated that they would require a ditch one-and-a-half miles long, forty feet wide, and fifteen feet deep. They would have to cut through a cypress swamp and heavy clay soil but, if successful, Vicksburg would be bypassed.


But they were not successful. Thousands of soldiers, slaves, and free blacks worked all day, every day, under the hot Louisiana sun. Mosquitoes were terrible in the swamps and they carried disease, and the snakes were poisonous. The heat was unbearable and the men were wet all of the time. They died by the dozens. And the underlying soil was much more difficult to shovel than they had anticipated. Progress was slow and hard, sickness took a heavy toll, and they needed more workers. They were down to less than one thousand laborers by July. Eventually, they had to give up, and the first Yankee attempt to capture Vicksburg had failed.


Midshipman Dabney Minor Scales of the Arkansas and a few of his colleagues inspected “Williams’ Ditch” after the Northerners abandoned it. They found six hundred Union graves and five hundred live Negroes, most of whom were sick after being forced to work in mud and water for days on end. The bluecoats, Scales learned, tried to induce the sick blacks to leave. Healthy blacks who tried to escape were sometimes shot.


But for the North, help was on the way. Near the end of June, the U.S. fleet from Memphis, under the command of Flag Officer Charles H. Davis, arrived north of Vicksburg with forty gunboats, mortar boats, rams, and transports.


Unable to defeat the Rebels by bombardment, Farragut decided to run the batteries and join Flag Officer Davis’ ironclads, north of the city. First, he wanted to suppress the Southern guns, insofar as was possible. He ordered his mortar boat commander, David Porter, to again bombard the city. He started at 4:00 a.m. on June 27 and continued until 10:00 p.m. Reverend C. K. Marshall watched the bombardment from a hilltop and wrote to his brother, “I was arrested by the magnificence of the view, the terrific roar, and the near approach of the shells to my locality  . . . The shelling grew furious, and every moment seemed to carry many of the destroyers into the very ranks of our brave boys at the guns. Every bomb could be traced in its parabolic path by the fierce burning fuse; and at times there seemed to be twenty or thirty sweeping the heavens at once.” He noted that many of the Union shells did not explode, but when one did “it would seem as if the whole country trembled under our feet.” He seemed surprised, however, that the damage to the city was “comparatively trifling.”6


In the pre-dawn darkness of June 28, about 3:30 a.m., Farragut ran the batteries with three of his five ocean-going warships and eight smaller gunboats. To keep the Rebels’ heads down, every ship from both fleets pounded the bluffs and the city. “It was perfectly terrific,” Rev. Marshall wrote. “The earth shuddered. The forest trembled. The buildings rattled as if smitten by a hurricane. There was not now a moment’s cessation in the crash and roar for nearly three hours.” Running against the current, progress was slow and damage was heavy. One of the warships did not follow the fleet and most of them suffered considerable damage. Two of the gunboats sank.


There was panic in the city. Rev. Marshall noted that the roads “were crowded with the flying citizens in the utmost confusion and alarm.” Hundreds of poor families took to the woods and fields, while others occupied cow-sheds, carriage houses, and shanties out of the range of Northern artillery. Hundreds made tents out of blankets, quilts, and sheets, because that was all they had.


Inside Vicksburg, citizens jammed every passway. Marshall wrote of “Women terror-stricken  . . . the children were screaming and crying, separated from their parents, and lost in the mass, the clouds of dust and general confusion  . . . while dogs, horses, mules and cows ran in all directions.”


After the firing ceased, Rev. Marshall went to the Rebel forts, expecting to view a scene like Shiloh or Manassas. He asked the first officer he saw: “What of our boys?”


“All right,” was the reply.


“Did they stand to their guns?”


“Men never behaved better.”


“What casualties?” the preacher asked.


“One man killed and seven wounded,” the artilleryman answered.


The Reverend was stunned there were so few. After the other forts reported, it was learned that the South lost two men killed and nine or ten wounded. Also dead, Marshall recalled, was Mrs. Gamble, “one of our most excellent women.” She was a widow and left behind several small children.


Meanwhile, the Union fleets linked up. Exactly what the Federals accomplished by this maneuver is unclear, but they lost sixteen killed and forty-five wounded, and they were now no closer to capturing Vicksburg than they had been the previous week.


Meanwhile, the Rebels built an ironclad.


Except for the postmaster general, Confederate Secretary of War Stephen Mallory was the only member of Jefferson Davis’ cabinet to hold his post throughout the war. A former U.S. senator who spent years on the naval affairs committee, he was under no illusions. He knew that the South could never even come close to matching the United States in ship production, so he did not try. Instead, he focused on harbor defense and innovations, such as ironclads and torpedoes (mines).


Because rivers were the South’s lifelines, Mallory authorized the construction of four large, shallow-draft ironclads on the Mississippi River: the Louisiana, the Mississippi, the Tennessee, and the Arkansas. The Louisiana and Mississippi were sunk in the Battle of New Orleans. The Tennessee was not completed when Memphis fell on June 6, so the Confederates scuttled it. The Arkansas they towed south and then northeast, sixty miles up the Yazoo River. It was here that forty-six-year-old Lieutenant Isaac Newton Brown assumed command on May 28.


At age seventeen, Brown joined the U.S. Navy as a midshipman in 1834. He fought in the Mexican War and made several trips around the world before resigning his commission when Tennessee seceded. When he found the Arkansas, it was an abandoned derelict. Her engines were scattered around in various pieces, her guns had no carriages, her hulk had been abandoned, and her armor was at the bottom of the river. Brown and his men fished out the armor and towed the boat to Yazoo City, where they set up a naval yard. He solicited help from locals and nearby plantation owners, who furnished 214 workers and fourteen blacksmith forges. Work progressed day and night. Brown needed tons of iron, which he mainly acquired from nearby railroads. His crew he recruited from local river men and about sixty Missouri infantrymen, which the army provided. By working around the clock, the lieutenant and his men had the Arkansas semi-battleworthy in five weeks. She was a formidable vessel, armed with two 8-inch Columbiads, two 9-inch Dahlgrens, four 6-inch rifled cannons and two 32-pounder smoothbores—ten guns in all. She drew fourteen feet of water and had a maximum speed of six knots (about seven miles per hour). It was a rusty brown in color and looked like a raft with a big box in the middle.


Lieutenant Brown had done a remarkable job. He had created a functional ironclad in the backwoods of Mississippi, with two enemy fleets only fifty miles away. On July 14, in spite of her questionable engine, Brown declared the Arkansas ready and steamed down the Yazoo to attack the Union fleet. He had to. It was summer and the Yazoo River was falling. If he didn’t leave his dock now, he ran the risk of having his ironclad stuck on dry land.


Coincidentally, the Yankees had learned of the existence of the Rebel boat. The ironclad Carondelet, the wooden gunboat Tyler, and the Queen of the West (now a ram)7 entered the river in search of the Arkansas. The Carondelet led the way.


The Carondelet’s captain was Henry Walke, a friend of Brown from the old Navy. They had even been messmates on Commodore Matthew Perry’s famous voyage to Japan. The small flotilla was several miles from the mouth of the Yazoo when Walke saw the Arkansas. He turned his ironclad around and fled. The Arkansas pursued it and was quick catching up. One of the shots from her bow guns damaged the Carondelet’s steering. It made for shallow water, where the Arkansas hit it with a devastating close-range broadside, shattering its armor and almost causing it to roll over. Steam covered the badly damaged Carondelet, which was listing and helpless. It had suffered thirty-five casualties, killed, wounded, or scalded. If they had time, the Confederates could easily have taken her as a prize, but their commander had other items on his agenda.


Brown left the disabled ironclad behind and headed for the Tyler and the Queen of the West, both of which fled. A sharpshooter from the Tyler fired at Lieutenant Brown and hit him in the head, leaving a nasty gash. The running battle continued for ten miles, with the Arkansas pounding the two wooden Yankee vessels. Blood flowed freely on the Tyler’s deck.


The Northern fleet watched with consternation as their two vessels entered the Mississippi, followed by the Arkansas. Because they were running short on fuel and were conserving their coal, none of the Union vessels was ready for action. But all of their sailors now scrambled to their guns.


Inside the Arkansas’ engine room, the temperature reached 130 degrees Fahrenheit. New men had to be rotated in every fifteen minutes. The Arkansas now ran the gauntlet of the Union fleet, which was on both its starboard and port sides. Brown faced what he called “a forest of masts and smokestacks, sloops, rams, ironclads and other gunboats on the left side, and ordinary river steamboats and bomb-vessels on the right.” There were so many ships and boats that any Yankee gunfire that missed the Arkansas was likely to hit a friendly vessel. Several of them took the chance and fired nonetheless.


The ironclad was hit by dozens of shells. One smashed the forward gunroom, killing or wounding sixteen men. A shell from an 11-inch gun killed or wounded every man at the gunboat’s huge Columbiad gun.8 Eight men were killed and seven wounded at the starboard broadside station. Her smokestack was riddled by sixty-eight shells, and she could barely make one knot, but she was helped by the river current. Even so, the gunboat fired back and hit several vessels. The Hartford, the Iroquois, and the Benton were all seriously damaged. The Union ram Lancaster came closest to sinking her, but a Southern cannon shot from one hundred yards out struck her boilers and covered the ram in steam. Much of her crew jumped into the river to avoid being scalded and she drifted out of control.9


After steaming all the way through both Union fleets, the Arkansas faced Commander Porter’s mortar boats, which were no problem for it. The Arkansas ran one of them aground and the crew was forced to burn it, to keep it from being captured. The ironclad then limped to the east bank, where it was covered by the heavy guns on the Vicksburg bluffs. It was in bad shape. Its ramming beak had been broken, all of its lifeboats had been shot away, and it was a mechanical mess. It had lost ten killed outright and fifteen badly wounded,10 and about thirty others were less seriously wounded. Total casualties amounted to more than half of the crew, and only forty-two crewmen were left to run the ship. The Union fleets lost forty-two killed and sixty-nine wounded, mostly aboard the Carondelet.


It was good for the South that the Yankees could not see inside the Arkansas, and thus could not tell how badly damaged it was, or they would have known it was unfit for action. Because they did not know this, all of the Union warships now had to keep up their steam, in case the Arkansas sallied out again. They were already short of coal. Soon they were dangerously low. They nevertheless continued their fruitless bombardment of the city.
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The Arkansas dueling with two Federal fleets.





On July 27, Admiral Farragut had had enough. It was summer in Mississippi, the river was falling rapidly, and he was afraid his ocean-going vessels would soon be grounded. His ships weighed anchor and headed south, while Flag Officer Davis steamed north. Thus ended the second attempt to take or bypass the city, the first Siege of Vicksburg. It had featured a sixty-seven-day bombardment, in which twenty-five hundred shells fell on the city. They did little major damage. Only seven Confederate soldiers had been killed and twenty-five wounded, excluding the Arkansas’ casualties. Only two civilians had died. One mother had been decapitated by a shell as she rushed her young son to safety, and a seven-year-old girl was killed by another shell.
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Throughout the siege, Major General Earl Van Dorn, the commander of the Confederate Department of Mississippi and Eastern Louisiana as well as commander of the Army of the West, realized that Vicksburg was vulnerable from the land side. After Farragut left, Van Dorn began a defensive construction program. He made his wisest appointment ever when he placed Major Samuel H. Lockett in charge of it. Young Lockett was an 1859 West Point graduate, the chief engineer of the department, and a brilliant military engineer. When completed, the land side of Vicksburg featured a trench line eight and a fourth miles long. It included 172 artillery positions, redans, redoubts and other forts and strongholds, plus a continuous line of trenches designed to be manned by thirty thousand men. General Pemberton would make it even stronger.


Meanwhile, Van Dorn decided to recapture Baton Rouge. He selected Major General John C. Breckinridge, a former vice president of the United States, for this task. He also gave Breckinridge the Arkansas, to keep the heavy guns of the Federal gunboats out of the battle.


Lieutenant Brown had taken a short leave in Grenada, where he fell violently ill. In his absence, Van Dorn ordered the first officer, Lieutenant Harry K. Stevens, to command the ironclad during the assault. As soon as he heard the news, Brown jumped on a train for Vicksburg. He knew that the ship’s engines were in no shape to go all the way to Baton Rouge. In addition, the crew was understrength and Arkansas’ engineering officer had suffered a nervous breakdown. But Brown arrived too late. The Arkansas cast off on August 3. Shortly after it passed the Red River, it began to have engine troubles.


Breckinridge started on July 27 with five thousand men, but the railroad was in such bad shape that he could only carry the troops—not tents or other equipment. It started raining heavily. When he reached Baton Rouge on August 4, he had only three thousand combat effectives left. The other two thousand were sick from dysentery, pneumonia, and fevers caused by the rain, exposure, and extreme heat. When he attacked at dawn on August 5, he had only twenty-six hundred men. They faced twenty-five hundred Union defenders. The Union ground forces under General Williams were mauled and would have been destroyed had the Arkansas’ engines not failed. As the Union gunboats closed in on her, Stevens set the boat on fire and scuttled it. Her combat career had lasted twenty-three days.


With the Arkansas burning, the heavy fire on the Union gunboats saved the Yankee ground forces. General Williams did not know it, however. He had been killed when a rifle ball struck him in the chest.


Breckinridge also lost some good men. Most prominent among them was Henry Watkins Allen, who commanded a brigade at Baton Rouge. Charging a Yankee battery, he was so badly crippled by a Union cannon that he could never walk again without the aid of crutches and was in constant pain for the rest of his life. Confederate General Benjamin Helm, Abraham Lincoln’s brother-in-law, was severely injured when his horse was shot out from under him. Helm’s aide, Lieutenant Todd, another brother-in-law of Lincoln, was killed.


Checked at Baton Rouge, General Breckinridge fell back to Port Hudson, about twenty-six miles north of the Louisiana capital, on August 12. This place was an excellent defensive position and could control traffic on the Mississippi. Now it became the southern anchor of the Confederate hold on the river. The three hundred river miles between Vicksburg and Port Hudson became the linchpin which held the two halves of the Confederacy together. It would hold for almost a year.





CHAPTER II


JOHN C. PEMBERTON


The first Siege of Vicksburg was a Southern victory, but elsewhere in the West things were not going well. U.S. General Grant took Forts Henry and Donelson (February 1862), General Buell captured Nashville (February 25, 1862), Grant beat back a Confederate counteroffensive at Shiloh (April 6–7, 1862), and Memphis fell (June 6, 1862) following the near annihilation of the Confederate River Defense Fleet.


Following Shiloh, the main Confederate army under General P. G. T. Beauregard slowly retreated to Corinth, which it abandoned on May 30. Here it was divided. Most of the men were assigned to General Braxton Bragg’s Army of Mississippi (later called the Army of Tennessee), while twenty thousand troops under Earl Van Dorn were left to defend Vicksburg.1 His forces were designated the Army of the West. About the same time, Lincoln also divided his much larger western army. Buell’s Army of the Ohio was sent to eastern Tennessee, John Pope’s Army of the Mississippi was ordered to defend Corinth, while Grant’s Army of the Tennessee occupied Memphis and western Tennessee.


General Dabney H. Maury described Van Dorn as “The most remarkable man the state of Mississippi has ever known. He used to ride a beautiful bay Andalusian horse, and as he came galloping along the lines, with his yellow hair waving in the wind and his bright face lined with kindliness and courage, we all loved to see him…. [He] gave assurance of a man whom men could trust and follow.”


Not everybody felt that way about General Van Dorn, however. He was bold, courageous, and gallant, to be sure, but he was also a drunkard, a whoremonger, and an adulterer. Born in Port Gibson, Mississippi, on September 17, 1820, he attended West Point and graduated fifty-second out of fifty-six—two spots above James Longstreet. He was short (five foot five), emotional, impulsive, and something of a party animal. He was an excellent combat officer at the regimental level. In Mexico, he was twice brevetted (to major) and was wounded twice in two days. Later, on the Western Frontier, he was wounded four times in actions against the Comanches. He resigned his commission in January 1861 and was immediately named brigadier general of the Mississippi State Troops. Two weeks after Mississippi seceded, he was named brigadier general in the state militia. The following month he was promoted to major general and commander, Mississippi State forces, replacing Jefferson Davis. A brigadier general in Confederate service from June 5, he was sent to Texas, and on September 19 was promoted to major general and transferred to Virginia, where he commanded a division. He was named commander of the Army of the West (then in the Trans-Mississippi Department) in January 1862.


Militarily Van Dorn was a good cavalry leader, but had been promoted above his ceiling as an army commander. His leadership was characterized by an appalling lack of attention to details and a failure to grasp what was possible. This led to his defeat at Pea Ridge (March 1862) and Corinth.


Van Dorn was always vain and could be jealous and petty. Nathan Bedford Forrest once said that he would like to cut his heart out.
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Earl Van Dorn.





As Confederate commander in Mississippi, Van Dorn placed most of the state under martial law. He tossed many civilians into stockades and hanged six. He imposed price controls, restricted trade, shut down newspapers, and generally outraged the civilian population by his high-handed actions. The Confederate War Department in Richmond rescinded his martial law declaration, but the damage had been done. Then Van Dorn and his two deputies, Sterling Price and Mansfield Lovell, mishandled the Battles of Iuka (September 19) and Second Corinth (October 2–3) and almost got the Army of the West trapped. Jefferson Davis had had enough and replaced him with John C. Pemberton. Brigadier General John S. Bowen preferred charges against Van Dorn for neglect of duty and failure to care for his wounded after Corinth, but President Davis wanted to keep him as a cavalry commander, so he stacked the court with Van Dorn sympathizers2 and he was acquitted.
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John Clifford Pemberton was born into a family of Philadelphia Quakers. His father, John Pemberton (1783–1847) was a businessman, a land speculator, and a close friend of President Andrew Jackson, who named him collector for the port of Philadelphia. His mother, Rebecca Clifford Pemberton, was a tall, beautiful blonde. She bore thirteen children, ten of whom lived to adulthood. John C., who was born on August 10, 1814, was the second child. He grew up in Philadelphia and his best friend was George G. Meade, who later commanded the Union Army at Gettysburg. Another childhood playmate was George B. McClellan, who eventually directed the Army of the Potomac at Antietam.


Rebecca Pemberton—who was particularly close to her son—saw to it that he was well educated in the best private schools and had every advantage. He was an excellent linguist and was especially good at Greek and Latin, which he liked to read all of his life.


John Pemberton grew into a handsome young man. He was five foot ten and a half inches tall, at a time when the average man was five foot seven, and he was slender and erect until the day he died. He had dark brown (almost black) eyes and brown-black hair. He was also tough and in excellent physical condition. Later, in the army, Pemberton could march and ride with much younger troops and with the hardiest veterans. His close friends called him “Jack.”


Pemberton was generally congenial but occasionally arrogant. He enjoyed hunting, fishing, and even participating in theatrical productions. He was also stubborn and seldom gave an inch if he thought he was right. He was slow to admit mistakes and was occasionally abrasive and quick- tempered.


Jack enrolled in the University of Pennsylvania in 1831 and ranked high in his class when he decided he wanted to be an engineer. The best engineering school in the Western Hemisphere at that time was the United States Military Academy at West Point. His father was reluctant to ask Andrew Jackson for a presidential appointment, but his mother had no such qualms, so she contacted the president directly, and Pemberton received the appointment. During a trip to Philadelphia, the president actually visited with Jack and gave him a pep talk about his future.


Pemberton entered West Point on July 1, 1833. Here his conduct took a turn for the worse. He first got into trouble for throwing rolls in the mess hall, for which he was arrested. He disliked the temperate nature of the Academy and the food, which was both poor and monotonous (mostly corn beef and potatoes). He took to drinking whiskey (sometimes to excess), smoking cigars, smoking a pipe, and even chewing tobacco. He was a mediocre student, content with “C’s.” This attitude cost him his dream of becoming an engineer, a distinction which was reserved only for the top students. Even so, he liked West Point and especially enjoyed camping. He faced graduation day with regret.
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John Pemberton, date unknown.





Cadet Pemberton almost got expelled his senior year for having liquor in his room. He was again arrested and forced to live in a local boarding house until a court-martial was assembled, but he was eventually allowed to graduate with his class (1837). His classmates included future Confederate generals Robert Chilton (later Lee’s chief of staff), Jubal Early, Arnold Elzey, William H. T. Walker, and Braxton Bragg, as well as future Union generals John Sedgwick, Joseph Hoover, and George Meade, who was Pemberton’s roommate. He was close friends with William W. Mackall, later chief of staff to both Bragg and Joseph E. Johnston. Other future Civil War generals whom Pemberton got to know were lower classmen, including Henry Halleck, William Tecumseh Sherman, John Pope, George Thomas, P. G. T. Beauregard, Richard Ewell, and Lloyd Tilghman, who was a good friend at this time.


Pemberton’s mediocre academic performance destroyed his dreams of becoming an engineer. He ranked twenty-seventh out of a class of fifty and was commissioned second lieutenant in the artillery. He had 163 accrued demerits, which was considered high. He was assigned to the 4th Artillery Regiment at Fort Columbia on Governors Island, where it guarded New York harbor, but he wasn’t there long. He was sent to Florida to fight the Seminoles before the year was out.


Jack Pemberton had twenty duty stations over the next twenty-four years. He first saw action in the unsuccessful Battle of Loxahatchee, but he showed courage under fire. The following year, he was sent to western North Carolina, to chase Cherokees. That was followed by a posting to northern Maine, the scene of the bloodless Aroostook War, where a border dispute almost resulted in the United States coming to blows with the British Empire. By late 1838, he was back on Governors Island, but he was soon again in Florida.


As a cadet, Pemberton had met a girl, Angeline Stebbins of New York City, to whom he proposed after a very short courtship. His family did not approve of her. Now, in St. Augustine, Florida, John met another girl, which led to a broken engagement and almost to a duel with Angeline’s brother. After that, Jack Pemberton had a series of shallow love affairs and drifted from girlfriend to girlfriend. Meanwhile, in the small peacetime army, Pemberton earned a solid reputation as an excellent administrative officer. There followed assignments to Fort Columbus; Camp Washington near Trenton, New Jersey, as a training officer; Detroit; Fort Mackinac on Mackinac Island, off the northern tip of the lower peninsula of Michigan; Fort Brady, at the eastern tip of the upper peninsula of Michigan; and Buffalo, New York, on the Niagara frontier, which Pemberton considered depressing. He was promoted to first lieutenant on March 19, 1842.


Pemberton spent the period 1842 to early 1846 in an alternating assignment between Carlisle Barracks, Pennsylvania, and Fort Monroe, Virginia. Here he met Martha “Pattie” or “Patty” Thompson, the daughter of William Henry Thompson, a prominent owner and operator of a line of cargo ships. She was a Virginia blueblood and related to Elbridge Gerry, a signer of the Declaration of Independence. Patty was five foot two, petite, with brown hair, striking gray-brown eyes, and fine teeth. A photograph of her later in life survives and there is no doubt about it—she was beautiful even then. She was also intelligent, had a dry sense of humor, and a head for finance, which John did not. He had met the love of his life. He proposed and she accepted, but his family again objected. This time it did not matter. He wanted to marry her very quickly but the needs of the service intervened, and Lieutenant Pemberton was packed off to Texas, just in time for the Mexican War.


John Pemberton was later accused of being indecisive in battle, but he showed no sign of that in Florida, Texas, or Mexico. His first big battle was at Palo Alto, but he really distinguished himself at Resaca de la Palma, where seventeen hundred Americans badly defeated four thousand Mexicans. Pemberton was in the thick of the fight. When a captain was hit, he took charge of an infantry company and proved to be an excellent battlefield commander. His straw hat was shot off of his head. A soldier beside him was wounded and grabbed Pemberton’s leg as he fell. The lieutenant dragged him out of the line of fire to a place of safety, but the man died later. In all, six men were killed in immediate proximity to him, but he showed neither fear nor the slightest indecision. Pemberton later declared that he was exhilarated by the battle.
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Pattie Pemberton.





Lieutenant Pemberton impressed his division commander, Brigadier General William Jenkins Worth, who named him his aide-de-camp. John remained in this position for the rest of the war, and won a brevet (honorary) promotion to captain at Monterrey. He also took part in the battles of Churubusco and Molino del Rey, where he won a brevet to major.3 He was wounded in the hand outside Mexico City, but suffered no permanent damage. Shortly after the war, the city of Philadelphia presented him with a sword for his gallantry during the conflict.


Brevet Major Pemberton could hardly wait to get back to the United States to be with Pattie. They were married at the Episcopal Christ Church in Norfolk, Virginia, on January 18, 1848. None of his family attended. The charming Southern belle eventually won all of them over, however.


One of the friends he made in Mexico was Captain Ulysses S. Grant. “A more conscientious, honorable man never lived,” Grant said later. After the Civil War, the Northern general recalled an incident in Mexico. An order came down that no junior officers were to ride their horses during the march toward Mexico City. These men soon became footsore and riding was again permitted—but permission was only given verbally. The order was never officially revoked, but everyone remounted, except Pemberton. He insisted on walking. “This I thought of all the time he was in Vicksburg and I outside of it; and I knew he would hold on to the last,” Grant recalled.


Pemberton and his wife were initially stationed at Old Point, near Norfolk, with the 4th Artillery. She was soon with child and she delivered near the end of the year. It was a bad pregnancy. She was unconscious for hours; meanwhile, her baby son died.


Despite her F.F.V. (First Family of Virginia) heritage, Pattie was a good army wife and took the hardships of isolated garrisons in stride. They spent 1849 in Fort Pickens and Fort Brooke, Tampa Bay, Florida. It was here, on January 14, 1850, that Pemberton’s daughter Martha (also called Pattie) was born. She and her father immediately became and would always remain very close.


In 1850, Jack was stationed at Jackson Barracks, New Orleans; Pascagoula, Mississippi; and Fort Hamilton, New York. He was promoted to captain on September 27. The following year, he was stationed at Fort Washington, on the Potomac, just across the river from Mount Vernon. His second daughter, Mary, was born here on August 9. More children came quickly and they were born at various army posts: John Clifford, Jr. (January 1853); William P. (December 1853); and Francis Rawle (1856). Francis weighed twelve and a half pounds. Jack was not much on organized religion, but each delivery found him on his knees in prayer. It worked. There were no more infant deaths. Their seventh and last child, Anna P., was born in 1857, while John was in Utah, operating against the Mormons.


In early 1861, Captain Pemberton was at Fort Ridgely, Minnesota, when the order came: because of the Fort Sumter crisis, the 4th Artillery Regiment was recalled to the Washington, D.C., area, in case it was needed to help suppress the “rebellion.”


By now, Pemberton’s personality was set. He had two sets of manners: one for the drawing room and one for the service. To his troops, he was aloof, cold, and formal—a stranger to the men he led. In social circles, however, he was relaxed, affable, congenial, and a pleasure to associate with. But he was rarely able to loosen up around his men, a fact which would hurt him and reduce his effectiveness in the years ahead—especially with informal Confederate volunteers.


Jack Pemberton underwent a great emotional struggle in the spring of 1861. On the one hand, he thought the South was right. He believed in the doctrines of states’ rights and state sovereignty and opposed the overreach of the Federal government. On the other hand, he was never particularly political and had little to gain and everything to lose by joining the South. He would be throwing away twenty-eight years and a fine military career if he did. And he would be fighting against his own family. Two of his younger brothers, Andrew and Clifford, had joined the Union cavalry and his brother Henry (who hated horses) rode from Philadelphia to D.C. to talk him out of resigning. He was not blind or insensitive to the pain his joining the Confederacy would cause. But there was another family. After they left Minnesota, his wife and children moved on to Norfolk. She wrote him frequently, imploring him to join them as soon as possible.


On April 17, Virginia—his adopted state—seceded. Pemberton continued to struggle. Two days later, the 4th Artillery was ordered to seize all steamboats on the Potomac, to make sure that they did not fall into Confederate hands. He helped carry out this order. But a few days later, he made up his mind. He resigned his commission on April 24.


Winfield Scott, the general-in-chief of the U.S. Army, tried to talk him out of it. He called him in and offered him a colonelcy if he would stay. But he would not. He left for Richmond on April 26. Two days later, Governor John Letcher nominated him for the rank of lieutenant colonel, Virginia Volunteers. The legislature confirmed him as a lieutenant colonel of artillery, Provisional Army of Virginia, on May 8. His immediate superior was Brigadier General Joseph E. Johnston.


It is not known if Pemberton and Johnston met before this, but it is more than likely that they did, as they had both been members of the 4th Artillery. We do know that Johnston had set up three training/instructional camps and he was anxious for Pemberton to command one of them. He gave him the one near Norfolk and his family. Initially he was responsible for training artillery and cavalry; however, he soon turned his horsemen over to Jeb Stuart and concentrated on gunnery.


Meanwhile, the nation (or nations) barreled toward an armed clash. On June 15, 1861, Pemberton was transferred from state to Confederate service and was named major, Confederate States Army (C.S.A.) Artillery Corps. Two days later, he was promoted to brigadier general, bypassing the ranks of lieutenant colonel and colonel. He was given command of an artillery brigade in the Smithfield-Suffolk area, just west of Norfolk, where he engaged in training the raw volunteers and constructing shore batteries on the James River. His family moved into a house in Smithfield, to be near him. Here they remained until late November 1861, when he received orders to report to Robert E. Lee in Charleston, South Carolina. He did so on the morning of November 29.


Lee (then a major general) had been named commander of the Department of South Carolina, Georgia and Florida on November 5. His principal civilian counterpart was Governor Francis Pickens of South Carolina, who was a prickly sort.4 He insisted that Lee should have brigadiers so, on November 29, Jefferson Davis sent him Nathan G. Evans and John C. Pemberton. Lee placed Pemberton in charge of District 4, the coastal area south of Charleston. He headquartered at Coosawhatchie, a railroad stop on the Charleston & Savannah Railroad, about halfway between the two cities. Here, Lee instituted one of his several brilliant military innovations: he used railroads to move units from place to place and take advantage of his interior lines to concentrate quickly, thus partially compensating for his numerical inferiority.
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Robert E. Lee, Pemberton’s commander in South Carolina. Lee thought highly of Pemberton.





Pemberton fought only one significant engagement as a district commander and that was near Port Royal. The Union forces made an incursion up the Coosaw River on New Year’s Day, 1862, which he beat back. He did so only with great difficulty, however, because the Union gunboats were able to silence his guns. This convinced Pemberton of the futility of trying to defend outlying areas with forts and batteries.


Robert E. Lee was not only a military genius—he was a consummate military diplomat as well. A Virginia aristocrat himself, he got along with the Old School Charlestonians who still ran South Carolina in 1861. They were an arrogant lot. In those days, people joked that there were two kinds of South Carolinians: those who had never worn shoes and those who made you feel as if you had never worn shoes. Charleston, it was said, is where the Ashley and Cooper Rivers join to form the Atlantic Ocean. Robert E. Lee managed to fit in with these high-toned and clannish people, as he did with everybody; this the Northern-born John C. Pemberton could never do. Also, Pemberton was a coolly impartial man. He treated the rich and famous exactly the same as he treated crackers. This contributed to his lack of popularity with Charleston’s rich and famous.


Jefferson Davis had already earmarked Robert E. Lee for greater assignments. Davis had also known Pemberton for years; he was one of the president’s favorites, and Davis wanted Pemberton to succeed Lee. He promoted him to major general on February 13, 1862, and to rank from January 14. On March 2, 1862, Jack Pemberton became commander of the Department of South Carolina, Georgia and Florida. He initially commanded about twenty-five thousand men, scattered along a 300-mile line of sea coast. He set up his headquarters at Pocotaligo Station, South Carolina, on the Charleston-Savannah line.


Before he left, Lee admonished Pemberton not to risk losing his army in order to defend a particular place. Pemberton took this advice to heart and was reluctant to commit his forces to an all-out defense of Charleston. Pickens wrote to Lee and objected to the very idea of losing the city. Lee straightened the matter out by writing Pemberton and suggesting that critical places like Charleston must be defended “street by street, house by house as long as we have a foot of ground to stand upon.” Pemberton, who very much respected General Lee, took this advice as gospel as well. But Pickens now suspected Pemberton might abandon Charleston, if the situation became dire. This suspicion increased after the general let it be known that he intended to reduce the forces at Fort Sumter because it had no defensive value.


Pemberton ignored civilian criticism and set about the task of defending his district. He assembled a staff which included John R. Waddy (adjutant and chief ordnance officer), Robert W. Memminger (assistant adjutant or AAG), and James H. Morrison and John C. Taylor (aides). Only Waddy had served with him before, when they were both in the 4th Artillery.5 Because his staff lacked engineering expertise, Pemberton borrowed Colonel William Robinson Boggs, the state engineer of Georgia, from Governor Joseph E. Brown.6 He and his staff then set out making the plans for defense of his department—especially Charleston—and constructing the defenses, including fortifications and gun positions. Their plans were good and later General Beauregard made only minor changes. In 1864, John B. Jones, a Rebel war clerk who did not like Pemberton, begrudgingly recalled, “Beauregard says Fort Wagner, which has made such a successful defense on Morris Island, was located by General Pemberton, and this is evidence of some military skill.” In June 1862, Pemberton also laid out the defenses of James Island, where the Federals were checked in 1862, 1863, and 1864. Even after he had been reduced in rank to lieutenant colonel, Ambrosio Jose Gonzales, the chief of artillery for the Department of South Carolina, Georgia and Florida, wrote him and suggested that Charleston still stood only because of Pemberton and his policy of strengthening his interior positions.
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Governor Pickens, Pemberton’s nemesis in South Carolina. He gave the general as much trouble as did the Yankees.





Meanwhile, after the Confederate defeat at the Battle of Shiloh, Pemberton was ordered to send eight regiments to northern Mississippi. His army was reduced from 23,000 to 18,700 men. To partially compensate for this loss, Pemberton pulled the regular Confederate forces out of some of the outer defensive positions which he felt could no longer be successfully held, leaving behind only local militia. These included Cole’s Island and Battery Island, southwest of Charleston. This was the heart of Pickens’ problem with Pemberton. The general wanted to hold the defensible, interior lines, not the outlying areas, which the Yankees could easily overwhelm or smash with their heavy naval artillery. Pemberton, however, lacked Lee’s diplomatic skills. The friction between the general and Pickens and his friends continued to grow throughout the summer.


Brigadier General Roswell S. Ripley commanded the Rebel defenses on Cole’s Island, which controlled the entrance to the Stono River. Pemberton did not believe this forward position could be successfully defended, so on March 27, he ordered Ripley to withdraw his heavy artillery. Defense of the island would be left to sixteen hundred local defense troops. This was tantamount to abandoning the island. It was common knowledge that the militia, without heavy guns, could not hold the place against the United States Navy and regular Federal troops. The irascible Ripley—who never got along with any superior officer, including General Lee—objected. He felt that he could hold the island. Pemberton disagreed and, unable to gain cooperation, relieved Ripley of his command on May 26.7


Pemberton was no doubt right. Cole’s Island was isolated and, because the South had no navy to speak of in South Carolina, its eventual loss was inevitable. Pemberton’s decision nevertheless caused consternation and panic in Charleston. The defenses of the city, they cried, had been weakened! Tension between Pemberton and the South Carolina upper crust continued to mount.


The key to Charleston, according to Robert E. Lee, John C. Pemberton, and P. G. T. Beauregard, was James Island, just south of the city. The major battle fought in the state during Pemberton’s time in command occurred here on June 16, 1862. Pemberton now only had about ten thousand men in his entire department, excluding local defense forces and militias, but he correctly deduced that the Yankees would try to land on James Island, then capture Secessionville.8 They would be only eight miles from Charleston and would be in a position to threaten the harbor.


Because of their heavy naval guns, there was no way to prevent the Yankees from landing on James Island, which they did on June 2. But Pemberton had concentrated sixty-five hundred men on the island by the time the Northerners attacked on June 16. Sixty-five hundred Federals struck at 2:00 a.m., when only five hundred men garrisoned the town, but they were blasted by Confederate heavy guns. The fighting was soon hand-to-hand, but nearby Rebel reinforcements rushed to the threatened point and made the difference. The Yankees were repulsed and lost seven hundred men, against two hundred for the defenders. The bluecoats evacuated James Island a few days later—not that Pickens and his friends gave Pemberton any credit for the victory.


Meanwhile, Pattie became seriously ill. The attending physician was Dr. George Rhett of the Charleston Rhetts, a very prominent and influential family. During this time, General Pemberton ran into an old friend, an army doctor whom he trusted. Desperately concerned about his wife, Pemberton asked him to examine Pattie and see if he could do anything to save her, which the physician did. Dr. Rhett took instant offense and refused to have anything further to do with the case.


In the hot summer of 1862, ice was very scarce. Pemberton ordered the entire supply set aside and rationed for hospitals. He did, however, order that a small amount be sent to his home, to bring down Pattie’s high fever. Another of the Rhetts owned a newspaper with a statewide circulation. Tipped off about Pemberton’s order, he blasted the general in print for diverting ice to his own home, implying that it was for recreational use. He did not mention Pattie’s illness.


Pemberton also placed an embargo on selling cotton to the enemy, which infuriated a number of the planters. He further annoyed many more of them by impressing some of their slaves as military laborers. The general also had to deal with a critical shortage of funds. He often had to choose between purchasing supplies and paying his men.


That summer, President Davis sent General Cooper to South Carolina to investigate the situation. He concluded that Pemberton had done all an intelligent officer could do under the circumstances. Even this failed to satisfy Pickens. In early July, Cooper signaled Pemberton to be prepared to come to Virginia. He was being replaced by Major General Gustav W. Smith. Pemberton was delighted, but the next day Smith reported himself unfit for duty.


On August 5, 1862, Governor Pickens wrote President Davis and asked that Pemberton be replaced by General Beauregard, who had now recovered his health. Davis pled for cooperation, but Pickens would have nothing to do with it. The South Carolina congressional delegation sided with the governor, so Davis relieved Jack Pemberton on August 29. He was summoned to Richmond for consultations. Beauregard assumed command on September 4.


Davis’ high opinion of Pemberton was not lowered by his failure to get along with Pickens and, as we have seen, he did a good job militarily. Meanwhile, the situation in northern Mississippi, from the Confederate point of view, was a mess. On October 1, 1862, Pemberton received Special Orders Number 73 from Cooper, naming him commander of the Department of Mississippi and Eastern Louisiana.





CHAPTER III


NORTHERN MISSISSIPPI, 1862


John C. Pemberton and his staff arrived in Jackson, Mississippi on October 9 and immediately set up their headquarters.1 The transition was much smoother than it had been in South Carolina for a number of reasons. First of all, Jefferson Davis of Mississippi wrote to John J. Pettus, the governor of Mississippi, and helped pave the way for Pemberton by commending him as an officer of “great merit.”2 Secondly, Pemberton impressed people with his appearance and military bearing. He looked like a soldier. One editor said he looked like a gladiator. He was tall, stood erect, was immaculate, and radiated dignity and calm determination. Finally, the department he took over was a mess and everybody knew it. In South Carolina, Pemberton replaced a very competent and admired commander in Robert E. Lee. Lee set high standards which Pemberton could never equal, at least in the eyes of the South Carolinians. Van Dorn, on the other hand, was in over his head—a fact that was obvious to all. They were glad when he was replaced by Pemberton and they received the Pennsylvanian with friendly enthusiasm.


John J. Pettus was a grim, quiet man with an abrupt manner and a fierce temper. After receiving the letter of endorsement from his old friend, Jefferson Davis, he welcomed Pemberton and the two established a cooperative working relationship, although they never quite became friends. Pettus, however, rendered every aid he could and helped Pemberton acquire materials, supplies, and slave labor for his fortification projects.
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